FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/15/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102565-3

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/15/2023 2:35 PM

No. 84682-5-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

C.R. and J.L., infants, by BRUCE A. WOLF, their guardian ad litem,

Petitioners,

v.

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Timothy R. Tesh WSBA #28249 Jonathan Van Eck WSBA #47755 Ressler & Tesh PLLC 710 Fifth Avenue NW, Suite 200 Issaquah, WA 98027 (206) 388-0197 Philip A. Talmadge WSBA #6973 Aaron P. Orheim WSBA #47670 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Bruce Wolf, as guardian *ad litem* for C.R./J.L., asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review in Part B.

### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I filed its opinion on October 23, 2023. A copy is in the Appendix.

### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does CPS owe a duty under RCW 26.44.050 to properly investigate possible child abuse of other siblings in the family home when it receives a report of abuse regarding a sibling living in that home and it undertakes to investigate not only the sibling's abuse, but also the possible abuse of those other children?
- 2. Does CPS owe a common law duty to siblings in the family home to properly investigate their possible abuse when it receives a report of possible abuse of another sibling, investigates that abuse and the possible abuse of the other siblings in the family home, and requires the abuser under investigation to leave the family home for the children's safety?

### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's opinion provides an abbreviated outline of facts and procedures in the case. Op. 2-4. However, several facts

relevant to CPS's duty to C.R./J.L. bear emphasis.

First, C.R. was only 10 years old when her older stepsister D.L. reported her abuse by C.R.'s father, Timothy Rowe; J.L., C.R.'s stepsister, was eight years old. CP 55-56. D.L., C.R., and J.L. all lived in the same house with Rowe.

Second, it is undisputed that the Department of Social & Health Services' Child Protective Services ("CPS")<sup>1</sup> received a report of J.L.'s abuse by Rowe. CP 49-54. CPS assigned social worker Amie McKey to investigate the allegation. CP 49-54. McKey interviewed both C.R. and J.L. pursuant to CPS Policy 2333 that mandated caseworker interviews of *all* children in the home where the abuse was alleged to occur. McKey interviewed C.R. and J.L. at school. CP 55-84. Both young girls answered in a fashion indicating they had been coached. CP 62, 74, 83-84.

Ignored in Division I's opinion, CPS developed a "safety

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Department of Social & Health Services or "DSHS" is now organized as the Department of Children, Youth and Families.

plan" for the girls, albeit the caseworkers testified they had no memory of its terms. CP 213, 224, 227. The caseworkers concluded that Rowe was a hazard to C.R. and J.L. necessitating his removal from the house (D.L. was already out of the home spending the night with a friend. CP 86). Obviously, CPS itself felt that allegations lodged by D.L. against Rowe were sufficiently serious to warrant the protection of C.R./J.L. as a result of the report about Rowe's abuse of D.L.

Critically, on the evening of the girls' interviews, CPS dispatched after-hours social worker Troy Harris to Rowe's home to obtain signatures on an agreed safety plan, CP 85-87, and "to verify that Mr. Rowe has left the home" pursuant to that plan. CP 85. When Rowe stated he would not agree to a safety plan that required him to leave his home for more than 24 hours, Harris told Rowe that if Rowe did not cooperate, CPS "may need to place all five children into [protective custody]." CP 86. Harris told Rowe that CPS was requiring Rowe to leave his own home due "to the seriousness of the allegations and the

responsibility of [CPS] to child safety." *Id.* Ultimately, Rowe left the home that night after Harris informed him that Harris "could not/would not leave until [Rowe] himself had left the home." CP 87. Notably, CPS forced Rowe to leave his home even though D.L. was out of the house staying with a friend and therefore did not need to be protected from him. CP 86. CPS staff were concerned about C.R./J.L.'s safety from Rowe's predatory conduct.

Finally, although Division I chose not to address CPS's conduct in breach of its duty to protect the girls, op. at 14 n.7, CPS incompetently investigated the report it had received regarding D.L.'s sexual abuse, as C.R./D.L.'s well-qualified expert, Barbara Stone, testified in detail. CP 27-45. In the C.R. and J.L. interviews, McKey negligently failed to ask the girls questions regarding "good touch/bad touch." CP 32-33.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> These questions allow young children, who otherwise have no idea that what is happening is wrong, to express a feeling that something may be wrong. Often, young children do not like sexual advances, but they do understand it is wrong until they are

McKey also failed to attend D.L.'s forensic interview, review a transcript or recording of that interview, or interview any of the *11 people* to whom D.L. had previously disclosed Rowe's abuse. *Id.* Nor did the CPS staff attach significance to Brittany Rowe's physical abuse of D.L. and her open hostility toward her. CP 33-34. Ultimately, in January 2015, DSHS erroneously determined that D.L.'s allegation of abuse was unfounded, CP 185, despite the risk to the girls being "moderately high." *Id.* CPS closed its investigation of D.L.'s abuse by Rowe. CP 180-86.

CPS negligently failed to discover Rowe's prolonged sexual abuse of C.R./J.L. CP 34. Emboldened by DSHS's failure to stop his sexual molestation of the girls, Rowe's sexual abuse of C.R./J.L. escalated. CP 13.<sup>3</sup> After initially molesting the two

much older. "Good touch/bad touch" questions help young children understand that such touching is wrong. Reply br. at 25-27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Strangely, Division I stated that the record does not support the intensification of Rowe's abuse after the CPS investigation. Op. at 20. The court should have treated the facts in a light most favorable to the children, inferring appropriately

girls, he now raped them; over the next several years, C.R. and J.L. regularly endured being orally, vaginally, and anally raped by Rowe. *Id*.

Division I's opinion glosses over these horrific facts to hold as a matter of law that DSHS owed no statutory or common law duty to the siblings living in the home with a child it was sent to investigate for potential abuse.

- E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
  - (1) <u>CPS Owes a Duty to All Siblings Residing in the Family Home Pursuant to RCW 26.44.050 to Properly Investigate Their Possible Abuse</u>
    - (a) Public Policy

Our Legislature and courts have steadfastly sought to

from Rowe's conviction for rape of a child that his abuse reported by D.L. as molestation had intensified. At a minimum the court should have remanded the case for resolution of that key factual point that bears on CPS's *Restatement* § 302B liability in particular. *Afoa v. Port of Seattle*, 176 Wn.2d 460, 466, 296 P.3d 800 (2013) ("[S]ummary judgment is inappropriate where the existence of a legal duty depends on disputed material facts.").

protect children and control sexual predators because sexual abuse of children, especially girls, is widespread. As many as one in three girls will experience some form of sexual abuse before age 16.4

The Legislature recognized an overarching right of children in Washington to a safe placement, free of abuse, in the context of the importance of *the family unit*. RCW 13.34.020. Courts have confirmed that right as well. *E.g.*, *In re Dependency of M.S.R.*, 174 Wn.2d 1, 20, 271 P.3d 234 (2012); *In re Dependency of J.D.E.C.*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 414, 421, 491 P.3d 224 (2021). To implement that overarching policy, the Legislature has directed that child abuse or neglect must be reported, RCW 26.44.010. Such reports of abuse or neglect must then be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> King County Sexual Assault Resource Center, *Keeping Communities and Neighborhoods Safe*, available at <a href="https://www.kcsarc.org/sites/default/files/Resources%20-%20Neighborhood%20Safety.pdf">https://www.kcsarc.org/sites/default/files/Resources%20-%20Neighborhood%20Safety.pdf</a>. See Appendix. See generally, Supreme Court Gender & Justice Commission, Sexual Violence Bench Guide for Judicial Officers (Rev. 2018), available at <a href="http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/manuals/SexualOffense/WA\_SV\_Guide.pdf">http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/manuals/SexualOffense/WA\_SV\_Guide.pdf</a>.

properly investigated by CPS or law enforcement. RCW 26.44.050.<sup>5</sup>

It is clear that Washington public policy is to prevent the abuse of children, in the context of the family unit, as this Court has confirmed, "The purpose of Washington's statutory scheme is 'to safeguard, protect, and contribute to the welfare of the children of the state.' Consistent with this purpose, the guiding principle of our child welfare system is that 'the child's health and safety shall be the paramount concern." H.B.H. v. State, 192 Wn.2d 154, 164, 429 P.3d 484 (2018) (quoting RCW 13.34.020 and 74.13.010); C.J.C. v. Corp. of the Cath. Bishop of Yakima, 138 Wn.2d 699, 717, 985 P.2d 262 (1999) (recognizing the "overriding and paramount legislative intent to protect children from physical and sexual abuse") (quoting State v. Waleczek, 90 Wn.2d 746, 751, 585 P.2d 797 (1978)).

Division I's outlier opinion, absolving DSHS of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The statutes referenced here are in the Appendix.

negligent investigation undercuts these clear goals.

# (b) RCW 26.44.050's Plain Language

RCW 26.44.050's express language requires the investigation of any abuse upon CPS's receipt of a report.<sup>6</sup> RCW 26.44.050 does not confine that duty to investigate to *a particular child*. The plain statutory language in .050 merely requires that a report of abuse must be made, *not* a report of abuse as to each child in the home. Upon the receipt of any report of abuse or neglect, an investigation must occur, and CPS is liable if the investigation is negligent.

# (c) <u>CPS's Interpretation of Its Duty under RCW</u> 26.44.050

Division I asserts that CPS's own internal investigative

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In carrying out legislative intent as this Court mandates for statutory interpretation, *State*, *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn*, *LLC*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002); *Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 142 Wn.2d 801, 807, 16 P.3d 583 (2001), courts must look at the words of the statute itself. *Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Credit Suisse Sec. (USA) LLC*, 194 Wn.2d 253, 258, 449 P.3d 1019 (2019) (the "bedrock principle of statutory interpretation" is the statute's "plain language.").

policies cannot form the basis for its duty to C.R./J.L. Op. at 7-8. That is wrong. In *Joyce v. Dep't of Corrections*, 155 Wn.2d 306, 324, 119 P.3d 825 (2005), this Court recognized that "Internal directives, departmental policies, and the like may provide evidence of negligence." *See generally*, WPI 60.03. Departmental policies figure in the duty analysis. Indeed, in *Tyner v. State*, *Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 87-88, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000), CPS's manual was given to the jury as evidence of its negligence.

CPS Policy 2333 indicates that children in the home where abuse has been reported are owed a duty. Caseworkers must:

- b. Complete a face-to-face present danger assessment of children who are not a victim or identified child in the intake although are related to the household. Gather information to complete the safety assessment.
- c. Assess if present danger exists during any contact with a child to determine if an immediate, significant and clearly observable behavior or situation is actively occurring and is threatening or dangerous to a child. Take immediate protective action if a child is in present danger.

(emphasis added). Supervisors must confirm:

- a. All child victims or identified children were interviewed.
- b. Allegations of CA/N were addressed.
- c. Children not a victim or identified child in the intake related to the household had a face-to-face present danger assessment before the safety assessment was completed.

Resp't br. at 43.

All of these steps are consistent with expert Barbara Stone's undisputed testimony that CPS has historically undertook a duty to all siblings in a home where abuse was reported. CPS trained its caseworkers that when one child in a family unit is alleged to have been sexually abused, the possibility that all other children in the family unit may have also been sexually abused must be investigated. CP 31-32 ("... [w]hen CPS receives a report alleging that a child has been sexually abused, its duty to investigate that report encompasses all children in that child's family unit. That has been the standard of care for decades, and social workers in the state of Washington

have been trained on this policy for decades.").

Division I's misstatement of the law as to its duty derived from its own policies requires review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

# (d) <u>C.R./D.L.'s Implied Right of Action under</u> RCW 26.44.050

Implementing the Legislature's direction in RCW 26.44.050 to properly investigate reports of abuse and neglect, this Court has recognized an implied right of action for negligent CPS investigations. *Babcock v. State*, 116 Wn.2d 596, 809 P.2d 143 (1991). The *Tyner* court confirmed that such an implied right of action for a negligent investigation existed, albeit as to a wrongfully accused father:

[T]he Legislature has recognized the importance of the family unit and the inextricable link between a parent and child. *During its investigation the State* has the duty to act reasonably in relation to all members of the family.

141 Wn.2d at 79 (emphasis added). Thus, the investigative duty under RCW 26.44.050 must be seen within the familial context. If the duty extends to parents of the abused/neglected child, it

extends as well to the child's siblings residing in the home.

In *M.W. v. Department of Social & Health Services*, 149 Wn.2d 589, 70 P.3d 954 (2003), this Court made clear the essential elements of the implied action – the investigation must gather incomplete or biased information and such inadequate investigation must result in a harmful placement decision; the court reiterated that the two primary legislative concerns underlying Chapter 26.44 RCW are "the integrity of the family and the safety of *children within the family*." *Id.* at 597 (quoting RCW 26.44.010) (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The duty under RCW 26.44.050 only extends to those with a biological connection to the reported abuse. *Ducote v. Department of Social & Health Services*, 167 Wn.2d 697, 701, 222 P.3d 785 (2009) (CPS's duty to competently investigate allegations of child abuse/neglect does not extend to stepparents).

A report of abuse is necessary for any claim. Division I correctly recognized that *Wrigley v. State*, 195 Wn.2d 65, 455 P.3d 1138 (2020), did not affect the duty analysis here. Op. at 8-9. The *Wrigley* court found *no report* was made to invoke the investigative duty in RCW 26.44.050. CPS received a report of D.L.'s abuse by Rowe. *See also*, *M.E. v. City of Tacoma*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 21, 471 P.3d 950 (2020), *review denied*, 196 Wn.2d

Nothing in this Court's decisions on the scope of the State's investigative duty under RCW 26.44.050 suggests that CPS is entitled to ignore the likely abuse of the other siblings residing in the same familial house as the child whose abuse is reported. In fact, in *Desmet v. State ex rel. DSHS*, 200 Wn.2d 145, 514 P.3d 1217 (2022), this Court reaffirmed the implied right of action under RCW 26.44.050, and rejected a broad reading of RCW 4.24.595, a statute designed to provide State relief from *Tyner*.

Other courts have held that the State owes the duty of competent investigation to *any* child in the family home it suspects of being abused. *See, e.g., Rodriguez v. Perez,* 99 Wn. App. 439, 445, 994 P.2d 874, *review denied*, 141 Wn.2d 1020 (2000) ("[B]oth the children who are suspected of being abused and their parents comprise a protected class under RCW 26.44

ī

<sup>1035 (2021) (</sup>abuse report was made as to child the abuser babysat; Division II found that no harmful placement decision occurred as to two other children in the home).

and may bring [an] action for negligent investigation under that statute."); Lewis v. Whatcom County, 136 Wn. App. 450, 452-53, 149 P.3d 686 (2006) (defendant owed duty of competent investigation to plaintiff because it suspected she was being abused while investigating allegations that another girl was being abused); Kirchoff v. City of Kelso, 190 Wn. App. 1032, 2015 WL 5923455 (2015) (plaintiff's sister was being sexually abused by their stepfather, Division II reversed summary judgment for State; the report DSHS received concerned the plaintiff's sister, not the plaintiff herself); K.C. v. State, 10 Wn. App. 2d 1038, **20**19 WL 4942457 (2**0**19) (two women were sexually abused by their stepfather years after their stepsister reported that she was being sexually abused; on appeal, the State conceded that it owed a duty to all children in the home when each of these reports was received). This conflict in Court of Appeals precedent warrants review. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Division I's outlier opinion conflicts with case law not only within the borders of our state but outside it, too. Courts in

other jurisdictions have not confined the duty of agencies like CPS solely to the child in the family home who is the subject of a report of abuse or neglect. In Gowens v. Tys. S. ex rel. Davis, 948 So. 2d 513 (Ala. 2006), the Alabama Supreme Court concluded that a state social worker and his supervisor were negligent when the State received a report from a hospital that a mother and her newborn baby were cocaine-affected. The social worker failed to investigate the impact of that report on the two half-sisters who resided in the mother's home. The seven-yearold half-sister was later severely injured in a fire in the home where she was left alone, locked in the house, after her grandmother (who resided with the mother) left for work. The Alabama court noted state agency protocols that required interviews with all children in the household after an abuse/neglect report. *Id.* at 523-24.

While there are cases declining to extend the duty to investigate under RCW 26.44.050 to *non-familial* persons or

children in a home,<sup>8</sup> those cases are inapplicable to a situation involving siblings residing in the family home, particularly where CPS actually investigated the abuse of C.R./J.L., interviewed them, and established a safety plan for them.

# (e) The Real World Implication of Division I's Decision

Ultimately, Division I's opinion establishes bad public policy that is contrary to the statutory/common law policy of protecting children in the family context. The legislative intent underlying RCW 26.44.050 is to prevent child abuse, ensuring that children reside in a safe placement, by requiring CPS to properly investigate every report of past child abuse it receives.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> E.g., child caseworkers (Pettis v. State, 98 Wn. App. 553, 990 P.2d 453 (1999)); foster parents (Blackwell v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 131 Wn. App. 372, 127 P.3d 752 (2006)); a kidnapped child (Estate of Linnik v. State ex rel. Dep't of Corrections, 174 Wn. App. 1027, 2013 WL 1342316, review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1014 (2013)); children not yet born (Albertson v. Pierce County, 186 Wn. App. 1002, 2015 WL 783169 (2015)); children in private home daycare (Boone v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 200 Wn. App. 723, 403 P.3d 873 (2017)).

RCW 26.44.010. Division I's condoning of a categorical exemption from liability for CPS's negligent investigation as to siblings in the familial home when one child in the home has been abused puts vulnerable Washington kids further at risk. Such a policy only encourages future negligent CPS abuse investigations, thereby increasing the number of children that will be harmed by the CPS's negligence. *See Babcock*, 116 Wn.2d at 622 ("The existence of some tort liability will encourage DSHS to avoid negligent conduct and leave open the possibility that those injured by DSHS's negligence can recover.").

Ignoring C.R./J.L.'s abuse while investigating the report of D.L.'s abuse ignores the fact that a predator like Rowe did not confine his abuse to D.L. Indeed, CPS itself has readily acknowledged that "a home in which a sexual predator resides is dangerous to children." *C.L. v. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 200 Wn. App. 189, 198, 402 P.3d 346 (2017), review denied, 192 Wn.2d 1023 (2019). Courts also recognize that

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