FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/23/2024 12:46 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102565-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

C.R. and J.L., infants, by BRUCE A. WOLF, their guardian ad litem,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SARA CASSIDEY Assistant Attorney General WSBA 48646 PO Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504-0126 360-586-6300 OID #91023

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

Schwindt v. Underwriters at Lloyd's of London, 81 Wn. App. 293, 299, 914 P.2d 119 (1996).

Further, the Court of Appeals did not err in declining to speculate under the guise of "inferring" facts that are not supported by the record. *See* Pet. at 5-6 n.3. Plaintiffs suggest that that prior to the Department's 2014 investigation of the reported abuse of D.L., Rowe's conduct was limited to molestation and, after the Department's investigation, progressed to rape. *Id.* at 5-6. The record does not support such an inference; Plaintiffs are inviting this Court to improperly speculate. Notably, in their complaint, Plaintiffs allege that they "had been repeatedly raped" – not molested – "by Mr. Rowe since [C.R.] was approximately 8 or 9 years old." CP 3.

This Court should disregard Plaintiffs' improper and unsupported arguments in their statement of the case.

- B. The Court of Appeals' Opinion on the Scope of the Duty under Former RCW 26.44.050 Comports with Its Plain Language and Established Precedent
 - 1. There is no conflict between the opinion and the statutory language at issue or its policy aims

The plain language of former RCW 26.44.050 (2013) is clear – unless there is a report, there is no duty to investigate: "[U]pon the receipt of a report concerning the possible occurrence of abuse or neglect, the law enforcement agency or the department of social and health services must investigate." (Emphasis added.)

This statute is one of several that work in harmony to balance preserving the integrity of the family from unwarranted separation and protecting the welfare of children within the family. *Wrigley v. State*, 195 Wn.2d 65, 76, 455 P.3d 1138 (2020) (discussing RCW 13.34.020, 26.44.010, and 26.44.050). Consequently, the implied cause of action under the statute is a "narrow exception." *M.W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 149 Wn.2d 589, 601, 70 P.3d 954 (2003). Only those individuals within the class of persons the legislature intended

former RCW 26.44.050 to protect may sue for negligent investigation. *Ducote v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 167 Wn.2d 697, 704, 222 P.3d 785 (2009).

The Court of Appeals' opinion recognized these policy objectives and limitations. *See C.R.*, slip op. at 6, 10. Contrary to Plaintiffs' argument, the opinion is neither an outlier nor does it undercut these important policy goals. *See* Pet. at 7-9. Rather, it furthers them.

"Parents have a fundamental, constitutional right to the care and custody of their children—a right that yields to the State's parens patriae right to intervene ... [w]hen a child's health, safety, and welfare are seriously jeopardized by parental deficiencies[.]" *Mathieu v. Dep't of Children, Youth, & Families,* 23 Wn. App. 2d 1025, 1044-45, 520 P.3d 1033 (2022). By recognizing the scope of former RCW 26.44.050 applied only to the subject of the report, the opinion maintains this balance.

At the same time, the opinion does not foreclose the potential that an investigation, once started, may discover

information to support a new report of possible abuse as to additional children. *See* RCW 26.44.030(1)(a). This, in turn, would support a new duty to investigate as to those children under RCW 26.44.050. Plaintiffs, however, have never claimed that the Department's caseworkers were negligent in failing to make a mandatory report as to them. *See* CP 1-4 (Complaint).

Nonetheless, in forecasting a parade of horribles, Plaintiffs absurdly claim that, without this Court's expansion of the Department's duty, the Department will not protect nonverbal children who are abused. Pet. at 19-20. Reports of abuse come to the Department in many ways beyond disclosure from the child, *e.g.*, based on the child's behavior, visible injuries, and other indicators.

The Court of Appeals' opinion is consistent with the plain language of former RCW 26.44.050, the entire statutory scheme in which it is placed, and the underlying policy. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

2. There is no conflict between the opinion and precedent of this Court

Plaintiffs seek review of their negligent investigation claim under RAP 13.4(b)(1) by arguing that: (1) the Court of Appeals' reasoning that internal policies cannot establish duty is wrong under *Joyce* and *Tyner v. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., Child Protective Servs.*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000), and (2) the Court of Appeals' conclusion that only to subjects of a report are owed a duty is inconsistent with *Tyner* and *M.W. See* Pet. at 9-13. Neither argument has merit, as the Court of Appeals expressly and correctly applied all four cases. *See C.R.*, slip op. at 5-7, 10-11.

a. Joyce, Tyner, and the limited relevance of internal policies to breach and causation

Contrary to Plaintiffs' argument, there is no conflict between this Court's opinions in *Joyce* and *Tyner* and the Court of Appeals' opinion here. *See* Pet. at 9-10, 12. In *Joyce*, this Court unequivocally stated that "internal policies and directives generally do not create law" and, where "policy directives are not

promulgated pursuant to legislative delegation, they do not have the force of law." *Joyce*, 155 Wn.2d at 323 (internal citations omitted). The Court further recognized that "[i]nternal directives, department policies, and the like may provide evidence of the standard of care and therefore be evidence of negligence." *Id.* at 324.

There is a difference between establishing a legal duty, on the one hand, and establishing the standard of care and breach — i.e., negligence — on the other. *See Van Hook v. Anderson*, 64 Wn. App. 353, 358, 824 P.2d 509 (1992) ("[T]he legal duty of care and the medical standard of care are similar but not identical concepts."). It is well-established that internal policies may be evidence of the standard of care and breach. *See Joyce*, 155 Wn.2d at 324.

It is also well-established that internal policies may factor into the analysis of proximate cause. As Plaintiffs point out, in *Tyner*, CPS's own manual was given to the jury. *See* Pet. at 10. However, the *Tyner* Court found that evidence to be relevant to

proximate cause, *not* duty, 141 Wn.2d at 87-88. Similarly, the *Ferndale* Court discussed the defendant school's internal policies when analyzing legal cause, *not* duty. 197 Wn.2d at 295-96.

As to duty, *Joyce* is clear: internal policies not promulgated pursuant to legislative directive do not have the force of law and cannot establish a legal duty. 155 Wn.2d at 323. *Joyce* is controlling precedent that the lower courts appropriately followed.

b. *Ducote's* clarification of *Tyner*, *M.W.*, and the scope of the duty in former RCW 26.44.050

As to Plaintiffs' second argument under *Tyner* and *M.W.*, in which they rely on statements that "the State has a duty to act reasonably in relation to all members of the family" and that "the safety of children within the family" is a primary legislative concern, Plaintiffs' mistakenly neglect the effect of subsequent precedent from this Court. Pet. at 12-13 (quoting *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 79, and *M.W.*, 149 Wn.2d at 597 (quoting RCW

26.44.010)). The Court of Appeals did not make that mistake. Instead, it correctly considered the statements from *Tyner* and *M.W.* in their appropriate context. *See C.R.*, slip op. at 10-11.

First, the Court of Appeals noted that, after *Tyner*, "courts have established limits on who may bring an action for negligent investigation." *Id.* at 10. It then recognized a separate part of this Court's analysis in *M.W.*, explaining that "our Supreme Court has held that general statements of legislative intent do not support a general statutory duty of care for a claim of negligent investigation, and it is error for a court to imply a duty from such general statements rather than analyze a statute's stated purpose." *Id.* at 11.

Next, the Court of Appeals addressed this Court's opinion in *Ducote*, explaining: "the court rejected the argument that a stepparent had a cause of action based on broad language in *Tyner* that suggested the State had a 'duty to act reasonably in relation to all members of the family." *Id.* (cleaned up). The court further referenced *Ducote*'s holding that "the class of

persons who may sue for negligent investigation is limited to those specifically mentioned in RCW 26.44.010, namely, parents, custodians, and guardians, and the child or children themselves." *Id.* (quoting *Ducote*, 167 Wn.2d at 704).

The Court of Appeals' ultimate holding here, that "there is no implied cause of action under RCW 26.44.050 for children about whom the State has received no report of suspected abuse," *see C.R.*, slip op. 2, fits squarely within the above precedent. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

3. There is no conflict between the opinion and published decisions of the Court of Appeals

The Court of Appeals' ultimate holding on the scope of the implied cause of action under RCW 26.44.050 also fits squarely within, and flows directly from, published cases of the Court of Appeals. The most notable of these are *Boone v. Department of Social & Health Services*, 200 Wn. App. 723, 403 P.3d 873 (2017), and *M.M.S. v. Department of Social & Health Services* & *Child Protective Services*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 320, 404 P.3d 1163

(2017). The Court of Appeals' opinion analyzed both at length. *See C.R.*, slip op. at 12-13.

In *Boone*, the court unequivocally declined to extend the Department's duty "to children who are not the subject of the reported abuse or neglect." 200 Wn. App. at 732-34. Despite attending daycare with a child who was the subject of a report of abuse at the daycare, the Boone children were "not within the class of persons for whose benefit RCW 26.44.050 was enacted because the Boone children were not the subjects of the reports of alleged abuse that triggered those investigation." *Id.* at 734.

Similarly, in *M.M.S.*, the court held that, where there was no report that M.M.S. was abused or neglected, she did not have a cause of action under RCW 26.44.050 based on the Department's failure to discover and disclose her stepbrother's prior sexualized behavior that had been documented in his earlier dependency proceedings. *Id.* at 322.

In addition, the opinion here considered and correctly distinguished the only two published Court of Appeals opinions

raised by Plaintiffs: *Rodriguez v. Perez*, 99 Wn. App. 439, 994 P.2d 874 (2000), and *Lewis v. Whatcom County*, 136 Wn. App. 450, 149 P.3d 686 (2006). *See C.R.*, slip op. at 11, 13; Pet. at 14-15. In both *Rodriguez* and *Lewis*, there were allegations of abuse as to multiple children. *Rodriguez*, 99 Wn. App. at 441-42; *Lewis*, 136 Wn. App. at 452-53. Given the absence of any such allegations as to Plaintiffs in 2014, there is no conflict to support review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

In seeking review, Plaintiffs also inaptly rely on the unpublished opinions of *Kirchoff v. City of Kelso*, 190 Wn. App. 1032, 2015 WL 5923455 (Oct. 12, 2015) (unpublished), and *K.C. v. State*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 1038, 2019 WL 4942457 (Oct. 8, 2019) (unpublished). *See* Pet. at 15. Not only is an alleged conflict with an *unpublished* opinion not grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2), but both *Kirchoff* and *K.C.* are distinguishable.

Kirchoff contains no analysis or discussion of the scope of the duty under RCW 26.44.050. *See Kirchoff*, 2015 WL 5923455, at *3-6. Similarly, in *K.C.*, the court specifically stated,

"we need not decide whether DSHS' duty to investigate always extends to other children in a home when allegations of abuse are made by one child in the same home." *K.C.*, 2019 WL 4942457 at *5.

Further, Plaintiffs' reliance on an *extrajurisdictional* opinion is plainly not grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). *See* Pet. at 16 (citing *Gowens v. Tys. S. ex rel. Davis*, 948 So. 2d 513 (Ala. 2006)). Moreover, Plaintiffs' summary of the facts in *Gowens* is incorrect. There, the child abuse and neglect report did not concern just one child; rather, it "specifically listed three 'child victims'" and identified "the purported risk of harm to each child." *Gowens*, 948 So. 2d at 516. That is not the factual posture of this case.

Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision on the Scope of the Department's Common Law Duty Comports with Established Precedent

Plaintiffs also seek review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because they argue, generally, that the opinion misapplied this Court's

opinions on the common law duties owed under *Restatement* §§ 281 and 302B and the voluntary rescue doctrine. *See* Pet. at 23-26. They also argue that the court overlooked "critical facts" as to CPS's conduct. *See* Pet. at 21-22. Plaintiffs fail to demonstrate any specific conflict between the instant opinion and the precedent they cite. Further, not only did the Court of Appeals reference the facts they now raise in discussing duty under the common law, but nothing in those facts would change the analysis because there is no evidence that any affirmative conduct by the Department created a new or increased harm to Plaintiffs.

As to the case law, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized that "at common law, every individual owes a duty of reasonable care to refrain from causing foreseeable harm in interactions with others." *C.R.*, slip op. at 15 (citing *Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma*, 193 Wn.2d 537, 550, 442 P.3d 608 (2019) (citing § 281)). The court then examined the facts in *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 310 P.3d

1275 (2013), *Beltran-Serrano*, and *Mancini v. City of Tacoma*, 196 Wn.2d 864, 479 P.3d 656 (2021), all cases involving police conduct, before concluding:

The Department's duty to conduct an investigation with reasonable care was limited by the scope of the [statutory] duty to investigate. Thus, unlike the police departments in *Washburn*, *Beltran-Serrano*, and *Mancini*, in the present case the Department had no duty to C.R. and J.L. for which it was required to exercise reasonable care.

Slip op. at 17.

This conclusion is correct. To hold otherwise and find a duty *owed to Plaintiffs* to act reasonably in investigating the report *as to D.L.*, would be contrary to this Court's statement in *M.W.* that, "Our courts have not recognized a general tort claim for negligent investigation. The negligent investigation cause of action against DSHS is a narrow exception that is based on, and limited to, the statutory duty and concerns." *M.W.*, 149 Wn.2d at 601.

The Court of Appeals also correctly rejected Plaintiffs' argument under *Restatement* § 302B by applying this Court's

precedent in *Robb v. City of Seattle*, 176 Wn.2d 427, 295 P.3d 212 (2013). *See C.R.*, slip op. at 18-20; Pet. at 23 n.12. *Robb* requires an affirmative act of misfeasance that creates a new harm and goes beyond failure to eliminate an already existing risk. 176 Wn.2d at 439. Assuming arguendo that Plaintiffs could identify some act of Departmental misfeasance, they still fail to identify a new or increased risk created by that conduct. It was this evidentiary gap, which they have not filled, that ultimately led the Court of Appeals to affirm dismissal of their claim. *See C.R.*, slip op. at 20.

This Court should also disregard Plaintiffs' argument under the voluntary rescue doctrine, which they raised for the first time in their reply brief below. *See Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) ("An issue raised and argued for the first time in a reply brief is too late to warrant consideration."); Reply Br. at 19. Further, "the premise of the voluntary rescue doctrine is that the rescuer ... undertakes or promises to undertake to rescue the

plaintiff from a *known* danger." *Turner v. Washington State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 198 Wn.2d 273, 294, 493 P.3d 117 (2021) (emphasis in original). There is no evidence that the Department suspected, let alone *knew*, that Rowe was abusing Plaintiffs in 2014. The doctrine is inapplicable, and there is no conflict to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review. The decision does not conflict with any precedential authority of this Court or the Court of Appeals. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). The Court of Appeals decision is also consistent with preventing and eliminating child sexual abuse. Moreover, the Court of Appeals decision is unpublished and interprets a statute that has since been amended, further undermining Plaintiffs' suggestion that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This document contains 4,984 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.